## ARMED FORCES COMMISSIONER BILL EXPLANATORY NOTES

## What these notes do

- These Explanatory Notes have been prepared by the Ministry of Defence in order to assist the reader of the Bill to help inform the debate on it. They do not form part of the Bill and have not been endorsed by Parliament.
- These Explanatory Notes explain what each part of the Bill will mean in practice; provide background information on the development of policy; and provide additional information on how the Bill will affect existing legislation in this area.
- These Explanatory Notes might best be read alongside the Bill. They are not, and are not intended to be, a comprehensive description of the Bill.

## **Table of Contents**

Subject Page o	Page of these Notes		
Overview of the Bill	2		
Policy background	2		
Legal background	3		
Territorial extent and application	4		
Territorial application of the Bill in the United Kingdom Territorial application of the Bill outside the United Kingdom	4 4		
Commentary on provisions of Bill	5		
Clause 1 and Schedule 1: Armed Forces Commissioner Schedule 1 New Schedule 14ZA Clause 2: Commissioner's functions in relation to Service Complaints Clause 3: Procedure for making Service Complaints Clause 4: Commissioner's role in relation to general Service welfare New Section 340IA – Commissioner investigations of general Service welfare matters New Section 340IB – Power of Entry to Service Premises New Section 340IA – Report and recommendations: general service welfare investigations Clause 5 and Schedule 2: Consequential amendments Clause 6: Extent Clause 7: Commencement Clause 8: Short Title Schedule 2: Consequential Amendments	5 5 6 6 7 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 10 10		
Commencement	11		
Financial implications of the Bill	11		
Parliamentary approval for financial costs or for charges imp	posed 11		
Compatibility with the European Convention on Human Rig	ghts 11		
Compatibility with the Environment Act 2021	12		
Compatibility with the European Union (Withdrawal) Act) 2	2018 12		
Related documents	12		
Annex A – Territorial extent and application in the United K	ingdom 13		

## **Overview of the Bill**

- 1 The primary purpose of this Bill is to establish the role and functions of the Armed Forces Commissioner and to provide the Commissioner with the powers and duties required to carry out those functions.
- 2 The Act addresses the following matters:
  - Establishes the Armed Forces Commissioner role and their office.
  - Provides the Commissioner with new functions to investigate general Service welfare matters in the Armed Forces.
  - Establishes powers of entry for the Commissioner to Ministry of Defence sites and access to information for the purposes of carrying out investigations.
  - Sets out the process by which the Commissioner will report their findings and recommendations following an investigation.
  - Abolishes the role of the Service Complaints Ombudsman for the Armed Forces and transfers their functions and responsibilities to the newly established Commissioner.

## Policy background

- 3 This Act seeks to deliver the Government's manifesto commitment to strengthen support for Armed Forces communities by establishing an independent Armed Forces Commissioner to improve service life. The Armed Forces Continuous Attitude Survey<sup>1</sup> has shown a fall in morale in the UK Armed Forces over the last decade and has also indicated systemic challenges in terms of retaining personnel. The German Parliamentary Commissioner for the Armed Forces has provided the inspiration for this Bill. Feedback on the German Commissioner demonstrates strong support from German personnel for this role. The Service Complaints Ombudsman for the Armed Forces established by the Armed Forces (Service Complaints and Financial Assistance) Act 2015 provides independent and impartial oversight to the Service Complaints System, helps Armed Forces personnel access the complaints system and provides oversight for specific service complaints. The Ombudsman does not however have wider reaching functions to allow broader matters impacting welfare of serving personnel to be considered.
- 4 This Act will establish an independent Commissioner to serve as a direct point of contact for Armed Forces personnel and their families. The Commissioner will consider, investigate and make recommendations to address welfare issues faced by serving personnel and their families during the course of their service life. To achieve this, the Armed Forces Commissioner will have a wide remit to carry out their own investigations into issues facing Service Personnel and set out their recommendations in reports which will be laid before Parliament. They will also absorb the functions of the existing Service Complaints Ombudsman.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Armed Forces Continuous Attitude Survey: 2024 - OV.UK

These Explanatory Notes relate to the Armed Forces Commissioner Bill as brought from the House of Commons on 23 January 2025 (HL Bill 63)

- 5 The Act gives the Commissioner the following powers to carry out this function. The Commissioner will:
  - receive representations from Service Personnel and their families wishing to raise issues which impact on service life.
  - have the powers and discretion necessary to decide what matters they investigate and make recommendations to the Secretary of State for Defence. Investigations would be into matters that materially impact the welfare of Service personnel or their families, which occur in connection with Service life.
  - strengthen parliamentary oversight of issues facing Armed Forces personnel. The Commissioner will be subject to pre-appointment scrutiny by the Commons Defence Select Committee and will be able to highlight concerns to Parliament through their Annual and Thematic Reports. It is anticipated that not every investigation will require a Thematic Report and findings of smaller investigations will instead be included in the Annual Report.
  - have powers to access Service premises in the United Kingdom unannounced and perform any necessary investigations whilst there, including viewing and taking copies of documents. These visits will also enable them to understand the realities of service life and engage informally with Service Personnel and their families. Premises are any place, including any vehicle, ship or aircraft and any tent or movable structure occupied for the purposes of UK Armed Forces, however the Commissioner will not be able to access any private dwelling or Service accommodation without the invitation of the person(s) living there.
  - The Commissioner would only be denied access to an establishment and the information within (generally or in a particular case) by the Secretary of State if it is in the interest of national security or for the safety of any person. The Commissioner may also not investigate anything they believe is subject to legal privilege nor can they require a person to do anything that the person could not be compelled to do in civil proceedings before the High Court (or, in Scotland, the Court of session).

## Legal background

- 6 The Bill inserts new provisions establishing the Commissioner into the Armed Forces Act 2006 (AFA 2006).
- 7 Part 14A of the AFA 2006 sets out the Service Complaints system for the Armed Forces. The current service complaints system has been in place since 2008 and was subject to amendment by the Armed Forces (Service Complaints and Financial Assistance) Act 2015. The system provides a means for persons subject to service law to obtain redress where they think themselves wronged in any matter relating to their service (see section 340A of the AFA 2006). The system is currently overseen by the Service Complaints Ombudsman for the Armed Forces established under section 365B of the AFA 2006. This Bill will abolish the office of the Service Complaints Ombudsman and transfer all related functions to the Commissioner. In

addition to the minor consequential amendments required to effect this change, this Bill will only make one further technical amendment to the procedure for making a service complaint under s340B of the AFA 2006. Otherwise, this Bill will be making no changes to the existing system.

## **Territorial extent and application**

- 8 Clause 6 sets out the territorial extent of the Bill, that is the jurisdictions in which the Bill forms part of the law. The extent of a Bill can be different from its application. Application is about where a Bill produces a practical effect.
- 9 However, it should be noted that the provisions in the Bill will enable a general Service welfare matter to be raised, wherever in the world the welfare matter may have taken place.

#### Territorial application of the Bill in the United Kingdom

- 10 This Bill extends to the whole of the United Kingdom subject to the following:
  - Paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 (and section 1(4), so far as it relates to that paragraph), so far as they insert paragraph 1 of Schedule 14ZA to AFA 2006 (status of Armed Forces Commissioner as corporation sole), extend in the United Kingdom to England and Wales and Northern Ireland only. This is because Scots law does not have the concept of a "corporation sole".
- 11 As the Bill will be reserved Legislative Consent Motions have not been required.

#### Territorial application of the Bill outside the United Kingdom

- 12 Clause 6 also outlines the territorial extent of the Bill as it relates to the British Overseas Territories and Crown Dependencies. The Bill includes a permissive extent clause which states that His Majesty may by Order in Council provide for relevant sections to extend to the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or any of the British Overseas Territories (except for Gibraltar).
- 13 If such an Order is made, it can modify those changes (so that the law of the British Overseas Territories and Crown Dependencies is not the same as that of the United Kingdom). See the table in Annex A for a summary of the position regarding territorial extent and application in the United Kingdom.

## **Commentary on provisions of Bill**

## **Clause 1 and Schedule 1: Armed Forces Commissioner**

- 14 Clause 1 inserts new section 365AA into the AFA 2006. This new section establishes the Armed Forces Commissioner and their general functions and objectives.
- 15 Subsections (2) and (3) abolishes the Service Complaints Ombudsman and repeals section 365B (which established the Service Complaints Ombudsman in AFA 2006).
- 16 Subsection (4) introduces Schedule 1 (which inserts new Schedule 14ZA into AFA 2006).

#### Schedule 1

- 17 Paragraph 1 inserts new Schedule 14ZA into AFA 2006 (detail below).
- 18 Paragraphs 2-6 list the amendments to be made to existing primary legislation, including amendments to the following Acts:
  - Public Records Act 1958
  - House of Commons Disqualification Act 1975
  - Northern Ireland Assembly Disqualification Act 1975
  - Freedom of Information Act 2000
  - Equality Act 2010

#### New Schedule 14ZA

- 19 Status: Paragraph 1 establishes the Armed Forces Commissioner as a corporation sole, or legal entity comprising of a single incorporated office. Paragraph 2 outlines the distinction in status between the Commissioner and the Crown.
- 20 Appointment: Paragraph 3 provides that the appointment of the Commissioner is to be made by His Majesty, following the recommendation of the Secretary of State.
- 21 Disqualification: Paragraph 4 outlines the circumstances in which a person is disqualified from being the Commissioner. This includes any individual who is a member of the regular or reserve forces or who is a civil servant.
- 22 Term of office: Paragraph 5 provides that the Commissioner's term of office may not exceed a total period of seven years. The Commissioner must provide written notice to the Secretary of State should they wish to resign. The Secretary of State may dismiss the Commissioner if the specified criteria are fulfilled. In the event the Secretary of State dismisses the Commissioner, they must specify their reasons for doing so via a statement to the relevant House of Parliament.
- 23 Deputy Commissioners: Paragraph 6 provides that the Commissioner may appoint one or more of their staff to serve in their office as Deputy Commissioners. A Deputy Commissioner cannot be a member of the regular or reserve forces.
- 24 Vacancy or incapacity: Paragraph 7 establishes the role of the Secretary of the State in circumstances where the Commissioner's office is vacant. The Secretary of State may appoint a Deputy Commissioner or such other person as the Secretary of State thinks fit during this

vacancy period. In this scenario, the Deputy or acting Commissioner is to be regarded as the Commissioner (except for matters relating to appointment, disqualification, term of office and the Commissioner's vacancy or incapacity).

- 25 Staff: Paragraph 8 enables the Commissioner to make arrangements for their staff. The Commissioner's staff are not to be employed directly by the Commissioner, however payments can be made directly by the Commissioner to their staff. Prior agreement must be sought by the Commissioner from the Secretary of State to agree the policies outlined relating to the number of staff, their payments and terms and conditions.
- 26 Delegation of functions: Paragraph 9 enables the Commissioner to delegate their functions to their Deputy or another member of their staff. The Commissioner may specify which of their functions and the extent to which they are delegated. Despite a function being delegated, the Commissioner may still perform said function.
- 27 Liability: Paragraph 10 is applicable where an individual is part of the Commissioner's staff, however is not employed directly by the Commissioner. In this instance, the Commissioner remains liable for the staff member and any associated unlawful conduct, akin to an employer's liability for an employee's unlawful conduct during their employment.
- 28 Financial and other assistance from the Secretary of State: Paragraph 11 enables the Secretary of State to make payments and provide other financial assistance to the Commissioner. The Secretary of State may also provide the Commissioner with staff (see Paragraph 8), premises, facilities and other assistance as required.

## Clause 2: Commissioner's functions in relation to Service Complaints

29 The current functions of the Service Complaints Ombudsman set out under Part 14A of the AFA 2006, will be transferred to the new Armed Forces Commissioner.

### **Clause 3: Procedure for making Service Complaints**

30 Clause 3 amends the references in section 340B(2)(a) and (4)(a), (b) and (c) AFA 2006 from a specified "officer" to a specified "person". Currently, admissibility decisions relating to service complaints must be made by "an officer of a specified description", which excludes civilians from being able to undertake this task.

## Clause 4: Commissioner's role in relation to general Service welfare

- 31 Subsection (2) inserts new sections 340IA and 340IB into AFA 2006, while subsection (3) inserts new section 340LA. Commentary of the new sections are set out below in paragraphs 34 to 49.
- 32 Subsection (4) amends the current requirement under section 340O of the AFA 2006, for the Service Complaints Ombudsman to prepare an annual report on the service complaints system. This existing function will be transferred to the Commissioner (see Clause 2) but broadened to include the Commissioner's new functions. Subsection (4)(b) places an additional requirement on the Commissioner to include in the annual report a summary of any findings and recommendations made by the Commissioner in connection with an investigation carried out under new section 340IA during that reporting year. This must be

included in the annual report regardless of whether these findings and recommendations have already been contained in a report under new section 340LA (see paragraph 48 below).

33 Subsection (5) ensures that the power to make regulations under new section 340IA(4)(e) (see commentary below) is covered by section 373(3) of the AFA 2006. This means any statutory instrument containing regulations under section 340IA(4)(e) are to be laid in draft and must be approved by both Houses of Parliament before coming into effect (i.e. the statutory instrument must follow the "affirmative resolution" procedure).

#### New Section 340IA – Commissioner investigations of general Service welfare matters

- 34 This new section enables the Commissioner to investigate a "general service welfare matter". The intent of this section is to ensure a scope broad enough to capture issues that may have been brought to the Commissioner's attention through oversight of the service complaints system, but also issues that can be raised directly by Service personnel and their families, provided it relates in some way to the Service person in question.
- 35 Subsection (2) states that a "general service welfare matter" is any matter which might, in the opinion of the Commissioner, materially affect the everyday lives of service personnel and their families, where those issues have arisen as a result of the relevant service person's service. 'Materially affect' means a matter must be sufficiently serious to warrant investigation.
- 36 Subsection (3) requires the Commissioner to consider a request from any person subject to Service law or a relevant family member to carry out an investigation into a "general service welfare matter" under subsection (1). A 'relevant family member' is to be defined and set out in regulations made by the Secretary of State (see subsection 8).
- 37 Subsection (4) and (5) exclude certain matters that cannot be investigated under this section, but still enables issues that may have been brought to the Commissioner's attention in connection with a particular service complaint, service inquiry, criminal investigation or proceedings, or public inquiry to be investigated as a "general service welfare matter" under subsection (1). For example, where an issue is referred to the Commissioner through the Service Complaint system that would be more appropriate for them to investigate in accordance with the existing legislation governing the Service Complaint system, this should be conducted by the Commissioner as a separate process under section 340H AFA 06. However, a Service Complaint may indicate wider systemic issues that could potentially affect the welfare of other Service personnel. These wider systemic issues could then be a matter that can be investigated under this provision. The Secretary of State may further specify in regulations matters to be excluded under subsection (4)(e) only where they consider the investigation of such a matter would be against the interests of national security or might jeopardise someone's safety. Whilst the remit of the Commissioner is limited to welfare issues connected to service life, there may be some unforeseen circumstances where a particular investigation topic might impinge on these areas. This power will provide a mechanism to respond and update the Commissioner's remit in a way that still provides Parliamentary oversight via affirmative regulations.
- 38 Subsection (7) places a requirement on the Secretary of State to co-operate with, and give reasonable assistance to, the Commissioner in relation to an investigation under this section. The Secretary of State must also consider any findings or recommendations made by the Commissioner in connection with an investigation under this section.
- 39 Subsection (8) provides for the definition of a 'relevant family member' to be specified in regulations subject to a negative Parliamentary procedure made by the Secretary of State.

#### New Section 340IB - Power of Entry to Service Premises

- 40 This new section confers on the Commissioner powers of entry to Ministry of Defence sites. It specifies that this power of entry includes certain actions, including to observe activities at those sites and to inspect and take copies of documentation. These actions are set out in subsection (1).
- 41 Subsection (2) makes reference to sub-section (1)(c) and provides that when inspecting and taking copies of any document kept in electronic form, the Commissioner can require such document to be produced in a form which is legible or which can readily be made legible, and can be taken away.
- 42 Subsections (3) and (4) require that prior to relying on their powers of entry the Commissioner should provide such notice to the Secretary of State as they consider appropriate. Where they consider that to provide such notice would defeat the object of their powers of entry, they may provide no notice at all only where their visit relates to services premises within the UK. For service premises outside of the UK the Commissioner must give notice of the proposal to visit within such a period as the Commissioner considers appropriate.
- 43 Subsection (5) enables the Commissioner to be accompanied by any person of their choosing to the premises and bring anything required for the purpose of exercising their powers of entry. It also places an obligation on the Commissioner to provide evidence of their identity and outline the purpose of exercising their power, should this be requested by a person on the premises.
- 44 Subsection (6) ensures that national security and personal safety considerations can be considered, even in instances where no notice of a visit is provided by the Commissioner. To achieve this sub-section (6) enables the Secretary of State to prevent or restrict the Commissioner's powers of entry and related actions under subsection (1) (generally or in a particular case) where they consider it necessary to do so in the interests of national security or for the safety of any person (which could include the safety of service personnel on the site, or the Commissioner themselves).
- 45 Subsection (7) sets out the instances in which the Commissioner may not exercise the powers under subsection (1). This includes when the Commissioner has reasonable grounds to believe an item is subject to legal privilege; and also prohibits exercising the power to require a person to do anything that they could not be compelled to do in civil proceedings before the High Court (or, in Scotland, the Court of session).
- 46 For the purposes of this section, Subsection (8) defines:
  - "item subject to legal privilege" in England and Wales as the definition provided in the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984. In Scotland as the definition provided in section 412 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002. In Northern Ireland as the definition provided in the Police and Criminal Evidence (Northern Ireland) Order 1989.
  - "premises" as including any place and in particular includes any vehicle, ship, aircraft, tent or movable structure.
  - "service living accommodation" as defined by section 96 AFA 06.

• "service premises" as any premises which (at the time of exercise of the power under subsection (1)) are permanently or temporarily occupied or controlled for the purposes of any UK force but are not service living accommodation. "For the purposes of" has not been further defined and should be given its ordinary meaning. For example, where premises are commonly understood to be occupied for the purposes of non-UK armed forces, this would not be captured by the definition.

New Section 340LA – Report and recommendations: general service welfare investigations

- 47 Subsection (1) enables the Commissioner to prepare one or more reports setting out their findings and any recommendations, resulting from a general service welfare investigation carried out under new section 340IA. As previously noted (paragraph 32 above) there will be a requirement for the new Commissioner to include in their annual report a summary of any findings and recommendations made by the Commissioner in connection with an investigation under new section 340IA during that reporting year, even if these findings and recommendations were not contained in a report prepared under this section.
- 48 Subsection (2)(b) sets out that where a report is prepared under subsection (1), the Commissioner must give the report to the Secretary of State as soon as is practical. Subsection (3) sets out that the Secretary of State must, on receiving the report, lay it before Parliament promptly and in any event, within 30 sitting days.
- 49 Subsection (4) enables the Secretary of State to exclude from any report any material where they consider its publication would be against the interests of national security or might jeopardise someone's safety.

## **Clause 5 and Schedule 2: Consequential amendments**

50 This clause introduces Schedule 2. Schedule 2 makes consequential amendments to the AFA 2006 in consequence of the establishment of the Armed Forces Commissioner.

### **Clause 6: Extent**

- 51 This Act extends to the whole of the United Kingdom subject to the following:
  - Paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 (and section 1(4), so far as it relates to that paragraph), so far as they insert paragraph 1 of Schedule 14ZA to AFA 2006 (status of Armed Forces Commissioner as corporation sole), extend in the United Kingdom to England and Wales and Northern Ireland only. This is because Scots law does not have the concept of a "corporation sole".
- 52 This clause provides that the Bill's provisions may be extended by Order in Council to the Channel Islands, British Overseas Territories (except Gibraltar) and the Isle of Man, known as a permissive extent clause.

#### **Clause 7: Commencement**

53 There are provisions in clauses 6 to 8 which will come into force on the passing of the Act, which are largely technical provisions relating to definitions, extent (including the provision about extent in clause 6), commencement, and the short title.

- 54 Clauses 1 to 5 will come into force on a day (or days) appointed by the Secretary of State in regulations, which are not subject to parliamentary procedure.
- 55 Under subsection (3), the Secretary of State may make transitional, transitory or saving provision by regulations in connection with the coming into force of provisions of the Act. This can include provision for the exercise of the functions of the Armed Forces Commissioner in relation to pre-commencement complaints, i.e. complaints made under Part 14A of AFA 2006 made before the coming into force of clause 2.

#### Clause 8: Short Title

56 This clause establishes that this Act may be cited as the Armed Forces Commissioner Act 2025.

#### **Schedule 2: Consequential Amendments**

- 57 Schedule 2 makes consequential amendments to other Acts in consequence of the establishment of the Armed Forces Commissioner.
  - Amendments to the Equal Pay Act (Northern Ireland) 1970 include substituting references to the "Service Complaints Ombudsman" with "Armed Forces Commissioner".
  - Amendments to the House of Commons Disqualification Act 1975 include omitting reference to the "Service Complaints Ombudsman".
  - Amendments to the Freedom of Information Act 2000 include omitting reference to the "Service Complaints Ombudsman".
- 58 Amendments to the AFA 06 include:
  - Substituting the heading of Part 14A with "addressing service complaints and service welfare matters".
  - Replacing references to "Service Complaints Ombudsman" with "Armed Forces Commissioner".
  - Replacing references to "Ombudsman[s]" with "Commissioner[s]".
  - Inserting the term "[of] service complaints" to distinguish between the different types of investigation that the Commissioner can undertake.
  - Adding the heading "Armed Forces Commissioner investigations: supplementary matters".
  - Expanding section 340J and section 340K to include the Commissioner's investigations under new section 340IA, as well as clarify the distinction between this type of investigation and the existing investigative function under section 340H.
  - Inserting additional reference to "service complaints investigations" and investigations "under section 340H" to section 340L to clarify which type of investigation is relevant for that provision.

- Inserting additional reference to section 340L into section 340M to clarify which types of reports the Commissioner can produce are relevant for that provision.
- Omitting the "Service Complaints Ombudsman" definition.
- Amendments to the Equality Act 2010 include substituting references to the "Service Complaints Ombudsman" with "Armed Forces Commissioner".

### Commencement

59 Clauses 1 to 5 will come into force on a day (or days) to be appointed by the Secretary of State in regulations. The remaining provisions will come into force once the Bill receives Royal Assent.

## **Financial implications of the Bill**

60 The provisions of the Bill will have an impact on public expenditure. The financial implications from establishing and maintaining the office of the Armed Forces Commissioner, are estimated to be within the range of £4.5 - £5.5m which will represent an increase on the annual running costs of the Service Complaints Ombudsman. The costs will be met by means of annual votes in the Defence budget and are subject to change from one financial year to the next dependent on factors such as the number of investigations conducted by the Commissioner.

## Parliamentary approval for financial costs or for charges imposed

- 61 A money resolution was passed by the House of Commons on 18 November 2024. A money resolution is required where a Bill authorises new charges on the public revenue broadly speaking, new public expenditure. This authorises the costs of establishment and ongoing costs of the Armed Forces Commissioner.
- 62 The Bill does not require a ways and means resolution. A ways and means resolution is required where a Bill authorises new charges on the people broadly speaking, new taxation or other similar charges.

# Compatibility with the European Convention on Human Rights

63 Lord Coaker, Defence Minister for the House of Lords has made a statement under section 19(1)(a) of the Human Rights Act 1998 that, in his view, the provisions of the Bill are compatible with the Convention rights.

## **Compatibility with the Environment Act 2021**

64 Lord Coaker, Defence Minister for the House of Lords is of the view that the Armed Forces Commissioner Bill as brought from the House of Commons does not contain provisions which, if enacted, would be environmental law for the purposes of section 20 of the Environment Act 2021. Accordingly, no statement under that section has been made.

## Compatibility with the European Union (Withdrawal) Act) 2018

**65** Lord Coaker, Defence Minister for the House of Lords is of the view that the Bill does not contain provision which, if enacted, would affect trade between Northern Ireland and the rest of the United Kingdom. Accordingly, no statement under section 13C of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 has been made.

## **Related documents**

- 66 The following documents are relevant to the Bill and can be read at the stated locations:
  - Armed Forces Act 2006 <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/52</u>

# Annex A – Territorial extent and application in the United Kingdom

	ingland	Scotland		Northern Ireland	
Is Legislative W Consent Motion s to process engaged?	W and frequencies to a constraint of the second sec	Extends and applies to Scotland?	Legislative Consent Motion process engaged?	Extends and applies to Northern Ireland?	Legislative Consent Motion process engaged?
No	′es ``	Yes*	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es ``	Yes	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes **	No	Yes	No
No	′es `	Yes	No	Yes	No
a	′es	No		No Yes No	No Yes No Yes

\*\*Except for Paragraph 1 of Schedule 1

## ARMED FORCES COMMISSIONER BILL EXPLANATORY NOTES

These Explanatory Notes relate to the Armed Forces Commissioner Bill as brought from the House of Commons on 23 January 2025 (HL Bill 63).

Ordered by House of Lords to be printed, 23 January 2025

© Parliamentary copyright 2025

This publication may be reproduced under the terms of the Open Parliament Licence which is published at www.parliament.uk/site-information/copyright

PUBLISHED BY AUTHORITY OF THE HOUSE OF LORDS